1972

State of Utah v. Steven Lynn Clark : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appeal from the dismissal of charges against defendant by the Second Judicial District Court, in and for Davis County, State of Utah, in harmony with Utah Code Ann. § 77-39-4 (1953). See *State v. Callahan*, 488 P.2d 1048, 26 Utah 2d 304 (1971); *State v. Shumway*, Case No. 12124, Supreme Court of Utah, September 28, 1971.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On February 24, 1972, a motion to dismiss was heard before the Honorable Ronald O. Hyde, Judge of the Second Judicial District, Davis County, State of

Utah. At that time, after hearing argument, the judge dismissed the action for lack of jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 77-65-2 (1953).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks the reversal of the district court decision.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 11, 1971, defendant, Steven Lynn Clark, was arrested for the alleged crime of burglary in the second degree. Also, on the 11th day of November, 1971, a complaint was issued by the Honorable S. Mark Johnson, Bountiful City Judge, upon the oath and testimony of Ron Ballantyne, a Bountiful City Police Officer, who investigated the alleged crime.

Defendant Clark was returned to the Utah State Prison sometime thereafter as he was on parole, being a resident of the Halfway House.

On November 15, 1971, defendant Clark signed and had delivered to John W. Turner, Warden of the Utah State Prison, a notice and request for final disposition of pending charges pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 77-65-1 (1953).

Preliminary hearing was held on February 1, 1972, before Bountiful City Judge, S. Mark Johnson and defendant was bound over to district court.

An information was signed and filed by Dale E. Stratford, District Attorney for the Second Judicial District on February 10, 1972, alleging the defendant Clark committed the felony of burglary in the second degree.

Arraignment on the charge was held on February 15, 1972, and a plea of not guilty was entered at that time. Trial was set for February 25, 1972.

On February 24, 1972, a motion to dismiss was entertained before Judge Ronald O. Hyde, District Court Judge of the Second Judicial District on the grounds that a trial was not held within 90 days pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 77-65-1 (1953).

Judge Hyde, after arguments ruled he did not have jurisdiction to hear the matter as trial was not commenced within 90 days after defendant signed the notice for final disposition.

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT HAD JURISDICTION OVER THE DEFENDANT AND THEREFORE, THE DISMISSAL OF THE CHARGES WAS IMPROPER.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-65-1 (1953) states:

“(a) Whenever a person has entered upon a term of imprisonment in a penal or correctional institution of this state, and whenever

during the continuance of the term of imprisonment there is pending in this state any untried indictment, information or complaint against the prisoner, he shall be brought to trial within ninety days after he shall have caused to be delivered to the county attorney of the county in which the indictment, information or complaint is pending and the appropriate court written notice of the place of his imprisonment and his request for a final disposition to be made of the indictment, information or complaint”

Utah Code Ann. § 77-65-2 states:

“In the event that the action is not brought to trial within the period of time as herein provided, no court of this state shall any longer have jurisdiction thereof, nor shall the untried indictment, information or complaint be of any further force or effect, and the court shall enter an order dismissing the same with prejudice.”

The question to be answered by the court is a simple one. From what point in time does the 90 day period as set out in Utah Code Ann. § 77-65-1 (1953) begin to run?

The Utah Supreme Court has in two recent cases come to seemingly two contradictory results regarding

the meaning of Utah Code Ann. § 77-65-1 (1953), hence, the reason for clarification sought herein.

In *State v. Wilson*, 453 P.2d 158, 22 Utah 2d 361 (1969), the court felt that the 90 day period ran from the date of filing of the notice if there was at least a complaint pending against the defendant at that time.

Justice Tuckett, with Justices Callister and Ellett concurring, stated in upholding the dismissal:

“The legislature has expressed its intent in simple and concise language which needs no construction by the court. The case before us clearly falls within the provisions of the statutes above referred to and we need only comment about one aspect of the case.”

In *Wilson* there was only a complaint against the defendant at the time of filing the notice for final disposition.

The same court a year and a half later decided a case which is in direct opposition to *Wilson*. In *State v. Belcher*, 475 P.2d 60, 25 Utah 2d 37 (1970), the defendant was accused of having made an assault upon a guard with malice aforethought. A complaint was filed on August 6, 1969. A preliminary hearing was held on September 19, 1969. Prior to that date, the defendant served notice upon the Warden of the Prison requesting final disposition of the charges which he alleged were pending against him. This notice was made pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 77-65-1 (1953).

Justice Ellett, with Justices Crockett, Callister, Tuckett and Henroid concurring first outline the function of filing a complaint:

“In felony cases the filing of a complaint is the process by which the defendant is held until a preliminary hearing can be held to permit the magistrate to determine if the defendant should be bound over to the district court for trial. (21 Am.Jur.2d Crim. Law § 443) . . . The accused cannot plead to the complaint in a felony matter but must plead to and be tried under the information or indictment, as the case may be. It is only when the charge against him is a simple misdemeanor that the plea is made to the complaint and he can be tried thereunder.”

There were three reasons why the Court upheld the conviction as attacked under Utah Code Ann. § 77-65-1 (1953). The first two do not concern us here due to the factual situation. The third, however, is the hinge upon which the whole matter swings. The Court stated regarding defendant's request for final disposition:

“. . . and in the third place, there was no way to dispose of the matter finally until the information was filed. His request was premature. He could not enter a plea of guilty to the complaint; and if the complaint had been

dismissed, the matter would not be disposed of finally, since the dismissal would not be res judicata and another complaint could be filed at any time within the statute of limitations (four years from date of crime, Sec. 77-9-2, U.C.A. 1953)."

It is clear then that the more recent decision of *Belcher* should be controlling over *Wilson* in the instant case.

The defendant in the instant case served the Warden with notice on November 15, 1971. This was prior to the filing of the information which occurred on February 10, 1972. Under the *Belcher* decision that notice was premature since the defendant could not plead to a complaint in a felony matter.

The information in the present case was not signed until February 10, 1972. Thus the 90 day period would not have elapsed until May 13, 1972.

Therefore, the District Court on February 24, 1972, the date of the hearing on the motion to dismiss, still had jurisdiction over the matter and should not have dismissed for lack of it.

CONCLUSION

The appellant respectfully submits that the lower court decision be reversed. This Court in *Belcher* clearly stated that a notice served upon the Warden prior

to filing of an information is premature. Furthermore, *Belcher* is controlling in the present situation since it is later in time than *Wilson*.