1972

State of Utah v. Steven Lynn Clark : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF
THE CASE

Appeal by the State of Utah from an Order of Dismissal of charges against Defendant in proceedings held in the District Court of Davis County, State of Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Respondent's written Motion to Dismiss was heard on February 24, 1972 before the Honorable Ronald O.

Hyde, District Judge, in Davis County, State of Utah, and after hearing argument of counsel, said Judge granted Respondent's Motion and dismissed the action pursuant to the provisions of the "Disposition of Detainers Against Prisoners Act", 77-65-1 et seq., U.C.A. 1953.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks affirmance of the Order of the District Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent substantially agrees with the Statement of Facts set forth in Appellant's brief, noting, however, that the record reflects that Respondent requested no continuances or delays and in no way contributed to the delay resulting in his failure to be tried within the required ninety (90) day period. Respondent so testified at the hearing before Judge Hyde. The record further reflects that the Court at no time granted any continuances nor was the Court requested to do so by the State.

ARGUMENT

I

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED PROPERLY
IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO
DISMISS.

The record clearly shows that Respondent fully complied with the provisions of the "Disposition of Detainers Against Prisoners Act" (77-65-1 et seq., U.C.A., 1953) and that he was not tried within ninety (90) days as required by the provisions of that Act.

A. HISTORY OF THE DETAINER ACT.

The Act was adopted by the Legislature in 1965 and titled:

"An Act providing for mandatory disposition of detainers against persons confined in penal and correctional institutions within the State."

A "detainer" is defined by Black's Law Dictionary, Fourth Edition, page 535 as:

"The act (or the juridical fact) of withholding from a person lawfully entitled the possession of land or goods, or the restraint of a man's personal liberty against his will; detention."

This definition and the ones found in 12 Words and Phrases, 1971 supp., p. 40, indicate that the term detainer means a physical restraint or custody of a person.

B. JUDICIAL HISTORY OF ACT. This Court first construed the Act in *State v. Wilson*, 22 Utah 2d 361, 453 P. 2d 158 (1969). In that case, the Court noted that similar statutes have been adopted by a number of other states for the purpose of carrying into effect the constitutional guarantee of a speedy trial and more precisely to define what is meant by "speedy trial." This Court stated (453 P. 2d 158, 159):

“It is apparent that the intent of the Legislature was to prevent those charged with enforcement of criminal statutes from holding over the head of a prisoner undisposed of *charges* against him. It would appear that the statute was intended to provide for the trial of *charges* against an accused while witnesses are available and their memories fresh (*Italics added*).

The Legislature has expressed its intent in simple and concise language which needs no construction by the Court.”

The constitutional provisions granting an accused in criminal cases the right to a speedy trial are, of course, found in the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and Article I, § 12 of the Constitution of Utah.

The Court next considered this Act in *State vs. Belcher*, 25 Utah 2d 37, 475 P. 2d 60 (1970). Appellant contends that this case is contradictory to the holding of the *Wilson* case. Respondent disagrees. In the *Belcher* case, the Court discussed three reasons why the defendant was not entitled to exoneration because he was not tried within the ninety (90) day period referred to in the Act. Only the first of these reasons is essential to the holding of the case, and the other two reasons are discussed by way of dictum and do not, therefore, constitute a part of the Court's holding in the *Belcher* case. The *Belcher* case is not, therefore, in conflict with the *Wilson* case.

The Act itself provides in 77-65-1, U.C.A., 1953, that

“ . . . (T)he Court having jurisdiction of the matter may grant any necessary or reasonable continuance.”

In the *Belcher* case, the Court found that the trial Court for good cause shown continued the trial date and that the Act was therefore not applicable. This was a reason within the purview of the Act itself why the provisions of the Act had not been violated. By way of dictum, the Court went on to say that the Act was not applicable because the trial had been delayed at the instance of the defendant when he entered a plea of insanity requiring a delay for necessary mental examinations. By way of further dictum, the Court indicated the third reason that the Act was not applicable was that there could be no final disposition of the felony charge until the formal information had been filed.

Respondent contends that only the first reason found within the provisions of the Act itself being essential to the holding, that the latter two discussions constitute dictum and that the *Wilson* and *Belcher* cases are not therefore in conflict.

The Court has considered the Act in two subsequent cases, *State vs. Bonny*, 25 Utah 2d 117, 477 P. 2d 147, (1970), and *State vs. Carlsen*, 25 Utah 2d 136, 478 P. 2d 327, (1970) and in both cases refused to apply the Act on behalf of the defendant, in essence bottoming the decisions upon the fact that the trial Court, for good cause shown, had continued the trial date and had not, therefore, violated the provisions of the Act.

As already indicated, Respondent urges that the *Wilson* case and the *Belcher* case are not in conflict. In arguing that there is a conflict, the State overlooks several vital points:

1. A man is the object of a "detainer" just as effectively whether he is being held to answer a complaint, indictment or information. As the title of the Act itself indicates, the purpose of the Act is to provide for a mandatory disposition of *detainers*. The Legislature chose to use the word "detainers" and it must be presumed that there was some valid reason and purpose for that language.

2. The *Wilson* case specifically holds that the language of the statute was intended to provide for the trial of *charges* against an accused. In holding that the Legislature had expressed its intent in simple and concise language requiring no construction by the Court, the *Wilson* case saw no need to differentiate between the nature of the charge pending against a person being detained.

3. The most serious objection to Appellant's position is that its adoption would severely frustrate the obvious intent and purpose of the Act in question. If Appellant's view were adopted, there could be interminable delays in all felony proceedings between the time of arrest and the time of filing an information against the accused and such delays would not violate the provisions of the Act. If the purpose of the Act is truly to implement the constitutional guarantees of

a speedy trial, the interpretation urged by Appellant most certainly is not that which was intended by the Legislature.

4. Adoption of Appellant's proposal would mean that in felony matters all that the Act would do would require that such matters be tried within ninety (90) days after the information was filed if the detained defendant complied with the notice provisions of the Act. This view overlooks the fact that the Code of Criminal Procedure already contains [77-51-1(2) U.C.A., 1953] a provision to implement the requirement for a speedy trial *after* filing of an indictment or information. The State would thus have us believe that in adopting the Act, the Legislature was adopting new legislation for no apparent purpose.

C. OTHER AUTHORITIES. In the recent case of *United States vs. Marion*, ~~404~~ U.S. ~~307~~, 30 L. Ed. 2d 468, 92 S. Ct. 455 (1971), the Appellees claimed that their rights to a speedy trial were violated by a delay of approximately three years between the end of the criminal scheme charged and the return of the indictment. The U. S. Supreme Court declined to accept this view. In so doing, the Court said:

“Legislative efforts to implement federal and state speedy trial provisions also plainly reveal the view that these guarantees are applicable only after a person has been accused of a crime . . . characteristically, these statutes to which the Court referred are triggered only when a citizen is *charged or accused*. The statutes vary

greatly in substance, structure and interpretation, but the common denominator is that [i]n no event [does] the right to a speedy trial arise before there is some *charge or arrest*, even though the prosecuting authorities had knowledge of the offense long before this." [Italics added].

The Court further stated:

"So viewed, it is readily understandable that *it is either a formal indictment or information or else the actual restraint imposed by arrest and holding to answer a criminal charge that engages the particular protections of speedy-trial provision of the Sixth Amendment.*

Invocation of the speedy-trial provision thus need not await indictment, information or other formal charge. But we decline to extend the reach of the Amendment to the period prior to arrest. Until this event occurs, the citizen suffers no restraints on his liberty and is not the subject of public accusations. *His situation does not compare with that of a Defendant who has been arrested and held to answer.*" [All italics added.]

This case is persuasive in support of Respondent's position and is in line with the *Wilson* case in holding that the provisions for a speedy trial are implemented when a defendant is *charged or arrested*. The statutory rules enacted to implement the constitutional guarantees of a speedy trial should become efficacious and attach at the time one is arrested, charged, accused or held to answer to a criminal offense and not upon the occurrence of some later event which simply formalizes the

charge of which the defendant has been accused and upon which he has been arrested and held to answer. He is just as effectively "detained" upon a complaint prior to preliminary examination as he is after being bound over and having an information filed against him in the District Court. All that happens is that the name of the document *charging* the defendant with the criminal offense is changed from "complaint" to "information."

The substance of the law and intent of the Legislature coupled with the simple and concise language of the statute compel affirmance of the District Court's Order of Dismissal.

CONCLUSION

The Order of Dismissal should be affirmed.